
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA
 

KEITH CRESSMAN, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

NllCHAEL C. THOMPSON, ET AL., 

Defendants. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
 

NO. CIV-II-1290-HE
 

OKLAHOMA TAX COMMISSION DEFENDANTS' 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST KEITH CRESSMAN 

Defendants Thomas Kemp, Jr., sued in his official capacity, Jerry Johnson, sued in 

his official capacity, and Dawn Cash, sued in her official capacity (collectively "OTC 

Defendants" or "OTC") move this court for summary judgment pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 

56(c) against Plaintiff Keith Cressman. In support of their motion, OTC Defendants 

respectfully submit the following: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Plaintiff filed an action under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 against various state officials, in 

their official capacities, seeking injunctive relief, declaratory relief, and nominal damages 

for violations of rights secured by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Constitution and the Oklahoma Religious Freedom Act. Specifically, Plaintiff 

complains that 47 Okl. St. § 4-107 and 47 Okl. St. § 1113 compel him to express a 

message on the license plate of his vehicle that is contrary to his sincerely-held religious 

beliefs thereby infringing on his exercise of free expression, exercise of religion, and due 

process rights. 
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Plaintiff correctly alleges in his complaint that the Oklahoma Statutes, through 

Okl. S1. § 4-107 and 47 Okl. S1. § 1113, require a license plate, whether the standard 

license plate or a specialty license plate, to be securely attached to the rear of the vehicle 

and clearly visible at all times. Further, Plaintiff correctly recognizes in his complaint, as 

well as by deposition, that the OTC, in carrying out the Oklahoma Statutes, imposes a tax 

on both the standard license plate as well as specialty license plates. 

Plaintiff does not allege in his complaint that he sought a hearing before the OTC 

or otherwise filed a formal complaint regarding the additional tax imposed on the 

specialty license plates. By his own admission, Plaintiff has not exhausted his 

administrative remedies, and therefore, this Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction. 

Additionally, the statutes upon which Plaintiff bases his complaint are an integral part of 

an overall tax scheme enacted by the Oklahoma Legislature for the specific purpose of 

collecting the taxes imposed upon vehicles for registration and licensing. The statutes 

vary the amount of the tax due according to what type of license plate authorized by these 

statutes is applicable. To enjoin these statutes, therefore, violates the Tax Injunction Act, 

28 U.S.C. § 1341, which bars suits in district courts seeking to have state tax laws 

declared unconstitutional, including those raised on First Amendment grounds. For the 

foregoing reasons, the OTC defendants maintain this court lacks subject matter 

jurisdiction. 
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------------ ---_._----

STATEMENT OF UNCONTROVERTED FACTS 

1. Plaintiff, Keith Cressman, filed an Amended Complaint in this case on 

February 16, 2012, naming Defendants Kemp, Johnson, and Cash in their official 

capacities and claiming his state law rights and federal First and Fourteenth Amendment 

rights have been violated. See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1. 

2. The Amended Complaint alleges that Oklahoma's vehicle license plates, 

which depict a Native-American sculpture called the "Sacred Rain Arrow", display a 

Native American religious symbol, the display of which violates Plaintiffs "sincerely

held religious beliefs. See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1 at ~~1 and 22. 

3. He claims that he "chose to display a specialty license plate at an extra cost 

of $37 to him initially and then $35 for renewal" but "[a]fter incurring these costs, [he] 

did not want to continue to pay extra money to avoid expressing a message contrary to 

his religious beliefs." He claims that he then purchased the standard state license plate 

and now wants to cover up the image of the Sacred Rain Arrow sculpture. See Amended 

Complaint, Exhibit 1 at ~ 28. 

4. Plaintiff claims that "[t]o determine whether he could legally cover up the 

image of the sculpture, [he] went to the Oklahoma Tax Commission ("OTC"), Motor 

Vehicle Division, in Oklahoma City on December 7, 2009" and spoke with a clerk about 

covering up the image of the Native American sculpture. Plaintiff was allegedly told that 

he would likely get a ticket if he covered up the image, but the OTC clerk suggested to 

him that he could check with the "enforcing officer" at the Department of Public Safety. 

See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1 at ~ 30-31. 
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5. Cressman claims that on the same day he "went to the Oklahoma 

Department of Public Safety in Oklahoma City. There [he] spoke to Defendant Paula 

Allen, [the person he believes is] the official responsible for interpreting policies for the 

Department ofPublic Safety." See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1 at ~ 31. 

6. Plaintiff claims that Defendant Allen told him that he could not cover up 

any portion of the license plate because doing so would violate 47 O.S. § 4-107, and that 

ifhe did do it, he could be prosecuted. See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1 at ~ 33-34. 

7. Plaintiff claims that he is being "forced" to have a license plate on his 

vehicle but cannot cover up the image without subjecting himself to criminal sanctions. 

As a result, he claims that he is being "forced" to pay fees for a specialty license plate to 

comply with the law and to avoid endorsing a message contrary to his religious beliefs. 

See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1 at ~ 42. 

8. Additionally, Plaintiff claims that as a result of Oklahoma's state law 

prohibiting him from covering up any portion of a standard license plate, he is forced to 

pay additional money for specialty license plates or risk being prosecuted for covering up 

the image which he claims is contrary to his religious beliefs. See Amended Complaint, 

Exhibit 1 at ~ 48-49. 

9.	 Plaintiffs Amended Complaint alleges Four Causes of Action: 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION - Violation of Freedom of Speech; 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - Violation of Due Process Clause; 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION - Violation of Free Exercise Clause; 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION - Violation of Oklahoma Religious 

Freedom Act. 

10. Plaintiff has sued the Defendants pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 requesting 

this Court enter judgment declaring that the application of 47 O.S. § 4-107 and 47 O.S. § 

1113, which he claims force him to use the offending license plate, violates his 

constitutional and statutory right to avoid expressing a message contrary to his religious 

beliefs, violates his due process rights, and violates his right to engage in free exercise of 

religion as guaranteed under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution and under the Oklahoma Religious Freedom Act. See Amended Complaint, 

Exhibit 1, PRAYER FOR RELIEF, ~ B. 

11. Plaintiff is asking this Court to enter a preliminary and pennanent 

injunction enjoining all Defendants, their agents, servants, employees, and all persons in 

active concert or participation with them from applying 47 O.S. § 4-107 and § 1113 so as 

to restrict his constitutionally and statutorily protected right to remain silent, to avoid 

expressing a message contrary to his religious beliefs, and to engage in the free exercise 

of religion. See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1, PRAYER FOR RELIEF, ~ C. 

12. Finally, Plaintiff is asking this Court to award him nominal damages arising 

from the acts of all Defendants as an important vindication of his constitutional rights and 

attorneys' fees, costs, and expenses. See Amended Complaint, Exhibit 1, PRAYER FOR 

RELIEF, ~~ E and F. 

13. "Plaintiff admits that he did not institute administrative proceedings" for 

recovery of the cost of license plates he paid, over and above the cost of the standard 
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license place. See Plaintiffs Response to Defendants' Request for Admission, Exhibit 2, 

Request and Response No. 14 at 6. 

14. "Plaintiff admits that he did not institute administrative proceedings" 

seeking issuance of a license plate without the image Plaintiff found offensive or, 

alternatively, a personalized or specialty plate at the same cost as a regular license plate. 

See Plaintiffs Response to Defendants' Request for Admission, Exhibit 2, Request and 

Response No. 15 at 6-7. 

15. "Plaintiff did not file a claim pursuant to the Oklahoma Governmental Tort 

Claim Act" against the OTC and/or the OTC Defendants. See Plaintiffs Response to 

Defendants' Request for Admission, Exhibit 2, Request and Response No. 16 at 7. 

16. "Plaintiff admits that he did not file [a claim] pursuant to Oklahoma 

Governmental Tort Claim Act" within one year from Plaintiffs purchase of a specialty 

license plate. See Plaintiffs Response to Defendants' Request for Admission, Exhibit 2, 

Request and Response No. 17 at 7-8. 

17. "Plaintiff admits that he did not file [a claim] pursuant to Oklahoma 

Governmental Tort Claim Act" within one year from Plaintiffs inquiry at the OTC as to 

whether he could cover the offending image on his license plate. See Plaintiffs 

Response to Defendants' Request for Admission, Exhibit 2, Request and Response No. 

18 at 8. 

18. "Plaintiff admits that the violations of constitutional and statutory rights 

committed by OTC Defendants concerned their enforcement, in addition to interpretation 
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and application, of state law and policy." See Plaintiffs Response to Defendants' 

Request for Admission, Exhibit 2, Request and Response No. 20 at 9. 

19. The deposition of Keith Cressman was taken on November 14,2013. After 

purchasing both a specialty license tag and standard license tag upon which taxes and 

fees were collected, Keith Cressman made neither a verbal or written protest to the 

Oklahoma Tax Commission or initiated administrative proceedings. See Cressman 

Deposition, Exhibit 3 at 120-127. 

20. Plaintiff did not file a claim against the OTC and/or the OTC Defendants 

pursuant to the Oklahoma Governmental Tort Claim Act, 51 O.S. §§ 151, et seq., within 

one year following his purchase of a specialty tag or his inquiry as to covering the 

standard plate. See Cressman Depositon, Exhibit 3 at 127-128. 

21. Plaintiff named OTC Defendants as parties to this suit because they are 

charged with the administration of the tax laws of the state which includes the assessment 

and collection of taxes and fees regarding license plates. See Cressman Deposition, 

Exhibit 3 at 107. 

Respectfully submitted, 

s/Larry D. Patton 
Larry D. Patton, OBA #6963 
Senior Assistant General Counsel 
Oklahoma Tax Commission 
120 North Robinson Ave., Suite 2000 W 
Oklahoma City, OK 73102-7801 
PHONE: (405) 319-8538 
FAX: (405) 601-7144 
EMAIL: lpatton@tax.ok.gov 
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COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANTS 
KEMP, JOHNSON, AND CASH 
SPECIALLY APPEARING 

8 

Case 5:11-cv-01290-HE   Document 96   Filed 12/02/13   Page 8 of 9



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on December 02, 2013, I electronically transmitted the 
attached document to the Clerk of the Court using the ECF system for filing and 
transmittal of a Notice of Electronic Filing to the following ECF registrants: 

Nathan W. Kellum
 
nkellum@telladf.org
 

Kelsey Dulin
 
kelsey@dulinlawfinn.com
 

Bryan Beauman
 
BBeauman@sturgilltumer.com
 

Kevin McClure
 
kevin.mcclure@oag.ok.gov
 

sf Larry D. Patton 
Larry D. Patton 
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